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            FOREWORD

            
        BY LORD HAGUE OF RICHMOND
      

         

         During the four years in which I served as Foreign Secretary, I was privileged to have responsibility for two of Britain’s intelligence agencies, SIS and GCHQ. I also received regular briefings from the Joint Intelligence Committee, the top-level group that fuses together the work of all four branches of the UK’s intelligence network. This body includes the Defence Intelligence Staff and, by extension, the Intelligence Corps.

         Collecting intelligence can be a dangerous business. No country – not least a rogue state which is unafraid of using the most brutal tactics to achieve its aims – wants to reveal its capabilities and plans to an opponent. In the interests of keeping the citizens of this country safe, however, it is always necessary for Britain to evaluate every piece of relevant information about a potential threat that can be gleaned in case it requires operational, planning or policy action. Some intelligence operators carry out their work behind the protective shield of a UK base. Others, including members of the Intelligence Corps, often have to conduct assignments in closer xproximity to the enemy. For this alone, they deserve everybody’s respect.

         My time in government taught me that Britain sits at the top of the tree when it comes to practising the many arts of collecting, processing and analysing information. Although resources are finite and complications often present themselves, the UK can hold its own among global superpowers. Indeed, our men and women are held in great regard for their skills, inventiveness and integrity.

         It is for these reasons that, as Foreign Secretary, I always felt confident in the intelligence assessments I received. When you read this book, you will understand why. Britain’s intelligence capacity is not the result of high levels of funding or of clever organisational processes. Instead, it is a product of our people – their training, courage, bravado and commitment. It is also the consequence of a culture which sets great store by acknowledging the experiences of those who have gone before.

         The invasion of Ukraine has been a sharp reminder that good intelligence is vital in the conflicts of the twenty-first century. Russia proved to have a poor understanding of the armed forces of the country it chose to attack. By contrast, western intelligence, with the British contribution at the forefront, alerted the world to what was about to happen and has been important in detecting and attempting to deter Moscow’s next moves at each stage.

         Every story in this book is a gripping individual drama, reminding us that many Intelligence Corps operators have risked, and in some cases lost, their lives in pursuit of a mission. Taken together, these accounts combine to portray a remarkable organisation which has not always had the recognition it deserves. While I suspect that most of its members are not overly concerned about that, xiit is only right that, a little more than eighty years after it was formally re-established, the Intelligence Corps and its many achievements should be celebrated. This book does a fine job of honouring the thousands of men and women who have served in the Corps and, by association, of saluting those who continue to do so. Every one of them should be proud.
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xv
            INTRODUCTION

         

         This book is not a conventional work of military history. Rather, it is intended as a literary salute to the thousands of men and women who have served in one of the most shadowy elements of the British Army, the Intelligence Corps. Over the past century or so, scores of them have done exceptional things all over the world in the name of their country. Some have paid the ultimate price. It seems only right, therefore, that the collective courage, judgement, skill and resourcefulness shown by Corps operators should be acknowledged.

         It is understandable in some senses that the Corps is not better known because much of its work is secret. I have long been fascinated by it. Just as armies reflect the history, geography and culture of a nation, so the growing relevance of military intelligence mirrors the way Britain’s armed forces have evolved. The Corps only formally came into being in July 1940, though it had existed unofficially during the First World War. Until 1940, and in the following five years, intelligence had its place in military matters, but attitudes of the day meant that arguably it was also expected xvito know its place. Its importance was understood but somehow underestimated.

         Before and during the Second World War, spies and analysts were often mainstream officers, soldiers and officials who were co-opted into intelligence duties to carry out specific tasks. Alongside them worked those who have been described as ‘gifted amateurs’, unusual but talented people who were able to track down and utilise information which was also of use to the armed forces. All this was effective enough – and it played a part in the creation of MI5, MI6 and GCHQ – but the Second World War was the true catalyst for change. It confirmed the need for the Army to have at its disposal the full-time unit of dedicated intelligence professionals on whom Britain has so often relied in the years since: linguists, experts in human intelligence and those able to undertake surveillance, agent handling, signals intelligence, counter-intelligence and imagery analysis.

         These specialists proved their worth time and again during the Cold War, in Northern Ireland and in the conflicts in the Falklands, Iraq and Afghanistan. And they continue to do vital work today. In fact, no Commander will deploy on operations without the Intelligence Corps providing knowledge and understanding. This helps to explain why, whereas other parts of the British Army have shrunk over the past few decades, the Intelligence Corps has grown. The rose and laurel cap badge, and those who wear it, have become synonymous with proficiency and dedication of the utmost kind. Frequently, ordinary people who joined the Corps have ended up achieving extraordinary things.

         As the twenty-first century progresses, and international relations become increasingly complex, the significance of the Intelligence Corps has only become greater. Whether in tackling matters xviiof security, terrorism or war, exploiting information and turning it into good and timely intelligence has never had a higher value. Successive British governments this century have questioned the need to maintain traditionally equipped armed forces, yet Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 proved that conventional threats remain. The Corps is able to provide the necessary intelligence to inform the British military and its allies of them. Indeed, the warning transmitted around the world in early 2022 of Russia’s intended actions was a British initiative. Specifically, it was the idea of Intelligence Corps officers, who ran the project. This warning did not stop Russia, but it did allow nations and organisations to prepare. This book frequently alludes to the strategic impact of the Corps’ enterprising approach and Ukraine is certainly the best recent example of this.

         It would not be possible in a single volume to write about every operator who has represented the Intelligence Corps over the past 100 or so years. To that end, it is worth emphasising that this is not an exhaustive account of the Corps. Instead, it aims to provide insights into the Corps’ many different activities and achievements through various individual members, something no previous published history has done.

         A total of 282 members of the Corps have died since 1940 while involved in operations around the world, three of whom were women. Many died alone and in distressing circumstances, including several who were tortured and executed in Nazi death camps. This book is written in their honour especially. In some cases, it has been necessary for security reasons to obscure operational details and the identities of Corps personnel. Nonetheless, I hope others agree that this book offers a fair account of every campaign that it covers.

      

   


   
      
         
1
            PART ONE

            EMERGENCE

         

         During the afternoon of 17 June 2008, in the searing heat of Lashkar Gah, Helmand province’s capital city in southern Afghanistan, five soldiers from the British Army climbed into a Snatch Land Rover and headed east for the neighbouring province of Kandahar. They were on a mission that would take them deep into Taliban territory. The unit consisted of four SAS reservists: Corporal Sean Reeve, Lance Corporal Richard Larkin, Private Paul Stout and an individual who has only ever been identified as Soldier E. The fifth figure among them was Corporal Sarah Bryant, a 26-year-old member of the Intelligence Corps.

         The aim of this hastily scrambled operation was to recapture Taliban fighters who had escaped from prison earlier that day. The quintet had been mentoring local police when they were tasked to assist in the search for the inmates and also to disrupt the enemy’s lines of communication. They began by conducting vehicle checks and were then ordered to reinforce members of the Royal Scots Regiment, one of whom had killed an enemy soldier.

         Tragically, as the Land Rover passed over a drainage ditch near the village of Miralzi, a huge mine detonated. The blast is believed 2to have been triggered by the vehicle’s back wheels rolling over an incendiary device which contained up to 100kg of high explosives. The devastation was so great that it killed the three SAS men whose names have been made public. The fourth, Soldier E, survived. According to the coroner’s inquest into Corporal Bryant’s death, she was sitting at the back of the vehicle and died instantly.

         As the first British servicewoman to be killed during the war in Afghanistan, media interest in Corporal Bryant’s death was intense. So, too, was the public’s sympathy for her parents, Des and Maureen, and for her husband, Carl Bryant, who also served in the Intelligence Corps as a Corporal. Although much of the Corps’ work is unavoidably secret, its existence is not, and the press did offer some insights into Corporal Bryant’s professional status, almost certainly because her passing drew attention to the increasing use of women on the front line in the wars of Iraq and Afghanistan. As it happens, women have, historically, played a strong role in the context of military intelligence, particularly during the Second World War. In the case of the Intelligence Corps in the twenty-first century, its soldiers have routinely been selected for operations regardless of their sex.

         In the week of her death, The Times reported that Corporal Bryant was a member of 15 (United Kingdom) Psychological Operations Group based at the Intelligence Corps’ headquarters at Chicksands in Bedfordshire. Initially, she had wanted to be a veterinary surgeon, but when an Army careers officer visited her school in the north of England she became interested in the military. Having completed her A levels, she joined the Intelligence Corps aged eighteen. She was marked out for a potential commission but insisted on rising through the ranks. With this in mind it is particularly poignant to reflect on the fact that on the morning of her 3death she was told she had been recommended for promotion to Sergeant. She had completed two six-month tours to Iraq and, in March 2008, was posted to Afghanistan with the 152 Delta Psychological Operations Effects Team. It was chiefly concerned with ‘influencing’ operations, as Carl Bryant, who is still in the Intelligence Corps, puts it. ‘A lot of the work Sarah was involved in was proper, old-fashioned hearts-and-minds stuff, really,’ he says.

         
            Sarah tried to have a positive influence on operations. What Sarah was doing was not common and she did it incredibly well. One of the reasons the team took Sarah out as much as they did was because she was a really fantastic soldier. She prided herself on that. She was a good intelligence operator, but fundamentally she could hold her own with anybody in the field. One of her greatest joys on an earlier tour was going on patrol and engaging with local people; she was particularly interested in female engagement. Sarah believed really keenly in what she was doing. She knew of an Afghan woman who was pregnant and was subsequently murdered by the Taliban and I think that affected Sarah. She knew what she was out there to do and she believed in that quite strongly.

         

         At the time of her death, it was reported by many newspapers that Corporal Bryant spoke the local Pashto language, monitored Taliban communications by telephone and over the airwaves, and interrogated female prisoners. It is certainly true that some of her colleagues would have undertaken such knowledge-gathering duties because they are the cornerstone of the Intelligence Corps’ work, but Carl Bryant says that his late wife communicated with Afghan women through a translator if they had to be spoken to at any time. 4Undoubtedly, however, gleaning information and securing support from the local population formed a significant part of her work.

         Without in any way diminishing the ultimate sacrifice made by Corporal Bryant or the others who died alongside her, the details of her career path and duties which emerged following her loss provide a good sense of the Intelligence Corps’ raison d’être. The modern Intelligence Corps was formally constituted with the consent of King George VI on 15 July 1940 and formally established on 19 July 1940 under the authorisation of Army Order 112. Since the Second World War, the Corps has deployed with the British Army on every major campaign and conflict in which British troops have been involved and has developed according to the demands placed upon it in each context, starting with the continuation of the Palestinian conflict from 1945.

         As well as engaging in the Cold War, the Corps has also operated in Malaya, Korea, Cyprus, Suez, Brunei, Indonesia, Dhofar (Oman), Northern Ireland, Belize, the Falkland Islands, the Gulf, the former Yugoslavia, Sierra Leone, Iraq and Afghanistan. In recognition of this service, the Corps was declared an ‘Arm’, defined as an entity whose role is to be close in combat with the enemy, on 1 February 1985. Corps personnel wear a cypress green beret with a cap badge showing a union rose surmounted by a crown and flanked by laurel leaves. The Corps’ motto, Manui Dat Cognitio Vires, meaning ‘Knowledge Gives Strength to the Arm’, was added later. The regimental quick march is ‘Rose & Laurel’ and the slow march is Henry Purcell’s ‘Trumpet Tune and Air’.

         As reflected in its name, its principal responsibilities relate to garnering intelligence. Its other main responsibility is to provide security, and security intelligence, for the purposes of force protection. Over the past eighty years or so, it has employed a hugely 5diverse range of people who have often supplemented their individual professional skills with extraordinary ingenuity and courage in the name of the Crown. Although it has only 1,850 serving officers and soldiers, and is therefore one of the smallest elements of the Army, the Intelligence Corps’ many achievements cannot be overstated – even if, as Brigadier Brian Parritt, who served as Director of the Intelligence Corps from 1981 to 1986, says, it has often been viewed with ‘great suspicion’ by some in the British military. The Corps is unique in that its officers and soldiers have access to highly classified material during their daily duties. For this reason, they are required to undergo Developed Vetting, the most comprehensive form of security clearance in Britain, as part of their selection. Those who graduate to the Corps’ most sensitive work must pass the Enhanced Developed Vetting process.

         It is worth stating at the outset that, despite being entirely separate organisations, the ties between the Intelligence Corps and the civilian security and intelligence services have been strong since the 1940s, with some of the Corps’ serving officers and soldiers being selected to work temporarily alongside the Security Service, MI5; and the Secret Intelligence Service, MI6. During the Second World War, Intelligence Corps members were also attached to the Political Warfare Executive, responsible for propaganda; and the Special Operations Executive, which carried out sabotage operations in Europe. At the same time, the Corps’ signals intelligence experts worked closely with Bletchley Park and then, post-war, with Government Communications Headquarters (GCHQ). Furthermore, some Corps members have been recruited by the security services after they have left the Army. Famously, John le Carré, the author whose real name was David Cornwell, worked for both MI5 and MI6 during the 1950s and 1960s. Yet his adventures in the spy trade 6only came about after he had served with the Intelligence Corps in Austria during his National Service in the early 1950s. Indeed, it was during his time in the Corps, when he was stationed in the city of Graz in the British occupied zone, that he undertook secret missions with MI6 at the border with communist Czechoslovakia. Almost seventy years on from le Carré’s experiences, the working relationship between the Corps and the peacetime agencies remains just as close.

         Members of the Intelligence Corps are trained soldiers who are able to enter into physical confrontation with the enemy anywhere in the world. Their main role, however, has always been to advise the Army’s Commanders of an opponent’s capabilities and intentions while also protecting their own forces – and ‘friendly’ forces – from enemy espionage, sabotage and subversion. This is achieved by collecting, collating, analysing and distributing military intelligence to those who need it in time for it to be of use.

         Most simply, ‘intelligence’ is classed by the British Army as ‘information that helps senior commanders to make important decisions’. It is gathered for strategic and tactical reasons and could originate from a simple conversation with a member of a native community; from a technical asset; from a well-placed source; or perhaps even from a state secret. Once processed and analysed, individual pieces of information become intelligence. This intelligence is then passed up the chain to inform the Commander’s decision-making.

         By way of example, operational intelligence is the term which covers the interpretation of an enemy’s capacity for action. A hostile power might want to launch an attack on Britain, but if it can be ascertained through fresh intelligence that it lacks the means to do so, it is reasonable to conclude that no immediate threat to the UK 7exists. Equally, if an enemy does have the ability to attack but it can be confirmed via the relevant intelligence channels that it has no plan to do so, it might also be concluded that no likely threat exists. Of course, events can change quickly, making the work of the Intelligence Corps so relevant and justifying its continual assessment of the intelligence picture. This recurrent process of collection, collation, analysis and dissemination is called the intelligence cycle and is one of the basic doctrines of Intelligence Corps operators.

         When the Intelligence Corps advertises for new recruits, it explains to successful candidates that they may be called to serve in all kinds of conditions during the course of their career, ranging from the hostile environment of an operational deployment overseas to the secure surroundings of a headquarters or government department at home. Those in the Intelligence Corps must be able to adapt to different circumstances and cultures and the threats they pose, whether physical or cyber-based, and they are expected to have the knowledge and confidence to brief very senior officers and politicians in both tactical and strategic situations. There are many occasions when NCOs are required to brief Generals and government ministers. They must also have the ability to operate as part of a team or work alone and unsupported.

         Among those who have overseen the recruitment of officers and soldiers to the Intelligence Corps in the past generation, it is generally agreed that the most crucial characteristics in prospective members are intellect, moral courage, fitness, judgement, confidence, compassion and leadership potential. Mark Hallas, a former Director of the Corps, says:

         
            An Intelligence Corps officer needs to have the same range of talents as an officer in any other part of the Army. That being 8said, I’d add intellectual curiosity and a passion for intelligence as being the standout qualities that further impress. In many respects, similar qualities [are required] for Intelligence Corps soldiers, given the independent roles they often have to fill from an early stage in their career.

         

         Another former Director of the Corps, Major General Peter Everson, says that when it came to selecting soldiers, he looked for ‘interpersonal skills [coupled] with the confidence and ability to interact effectively with everyone from Corporal to General; intelligent [people] with intellectual rigour, the ability to understand complex issues and the broader context; physical and mental toughness; leadership potential.’

         Not everybody who has joined the Corps since the 1980s has fitted a particular mould, however. David Burrill, a former Deputy Colonel Commandant of the Corps, recalls that above and beyond the kinds of attributes and abilities that might be expected for the military, he also looked for men and women who were irreverent and maverick in their thinking. He says:

         
            I remember well, when as Deputy Director and Chief of Staff, that, with one exception, the young men and women candidates would appear [at interview] formally dressed. The one exception was a young man with shoulder-length, slightly unkempt hair, wearing a T-shirt and rather rough-looking jeans. He managed all the regular questioning extremely well. In fact, he was joint best with one young woman. When I asked him if he was satisfied that he had prepared sufficiently well for the occasion, he answered along the lines of ‘If you are referring to my general appearance and dress, you are seeing me as I am now. If I am 9accepted, I will, of course, become what you would expect of me and will be damned good at it.’ There and then, I decided that he was a must for the Corps. There was resistance from the other two selection panel members, and I make no apologies for being very heavy with them and talking them into dropping their rather rigid and routine thinking.

         

         The watchword of the Intelligence Corps is to ‘exploit all sources and agencies’. In order to fulfil their mission and leave no stone un-turned, the Corps’ officers and soldiers must be prepared to engage in a wide variety of activities, from surveillance work on the street to monitoring incoming electronic threats. This means that members of the Intelligence Corps might find themselves on an overseas stakeout or briefing a Commanding Officer in Britain about an attempt by hackers to destroy a computer network. Material could come from an infantry foot patrol or a high-level source. Before looking at the origins and development of the Corps, it is worth outlining the main methods it uses today to obtain the information and data it needs to produce actionable intelligence.

         Human intelligence (HUMINT) is an umbrella term used for any activity from which knowledge can be obtained via interpersonal contact. Interrogation can provide valuable information if properly planned and directed and both officers and senior non-commissioned officers of the Corps are trained in this specialist discipline. Prisoner handling and tactical questioning represent a lower level of interrogation to exploit the shock of capture in a recently secured prisoner. Subjects who might be questioned include prisoners of war, refugees, enemy intelligence agents, insurgents, defectors and anybody else who might reasonably be considered to hold information that might be of potential value. There are varying 10levels of interrogation, depending on the status of the subject. For instance, somebody thought to be in possession of particularly high-value intelligence can undergo deep interrogation for protracted periods of time in special facilities.

         Covert surveillance is another specialised skill used by the Intelligence Corps to collect information. It can be static – that is to say, carried out from a covert hide or stationery vehicle; or mobile, which would involve following a subject by vehicle or on foot; or a combination of both. Intelligence is also gained through technical surveillance such as telephone tapping or ‘bugging’. Such methods are employed in counter-intelligence, counter-terrorist or counterinsurgency operations. Corps personnel involved in these activities historically received their surveillance training through the Security Service, MI5, but later developed their own expertise.

         Agent handling, also known as source handling, is another method by which the Corps collects information. Enemy agents; disaffected members of terrorist organisations or hostile intelligence services; foreign government officials; or individuals with access to useful information who are sympathetic to an Allied mission can all be ‘turned’. Agent handling, which involves ‘talent-spotting’, ‘recruitment’ and ‘handling’, is a specialised activity in which the natural social skills of the handler are reinforced by formal training. It is one of the more dangerous activities in which the Corps is involved, which explains why twenty-seven awards of the Queen’s Gallantry Medal were made to Intelligence Corps agent handlers operating in Northern Ireland between 1969 and 2007.

         Signals intelligence, or SIGINT, is collected by monitoring enemy communications with high-grade technological equipment and intercepting anything considered to be of use, from radio broadcasts to satellite communications. These transmissions are 11rarely conducted in ‘plain language’, meaning that SIGINT often involves cryptanalysis and translation. In a British military context, specialists from the Royal Corps of Signals usually intercept the material. The cryptanalysis, translation and later intelligence analysis and interpretation of the ‘product’ is then carried out by Intelligence Corps personnel. Both officers and soldiers in the Intelligence Corps can spend eighteen months or longer on language courses, with a particular focus on Farsi, Russian, French, Arabic and Serbo-Croat, as well as Cantonese and Mandarin Chinese.

         Exploitation intelligence is a relatively new addition to definitions of the Corps’ skills and activities. At a basic level, it is the intelligence gained from material or personnel via scientific, technical and specialist collection methods including forensics. This might include captured terrorist weapons or the remains of improvised explosive devices (IEDs) which have been recovered following a bombing incident. These can shed light on an enemy’s technical capability and link equipment to an individual or group.

         A further form of intelligence relates to imagery obtained from the study and analysis of aerial photographs. Imagery intelligence (IMINT) is the analysis of images taken from air, satellite or ground sensors including photography, electro-optical images, infrared or RADAR. During the Second World War, aerial images allowed accurate maps to be made of the beaches at Normandy for the D-Day landings, for example, and were key to identifying German weapons development sites. In the modern era, these are recorded principally by satellites and drones.

         It is worth emphasising from the start that the role of women in the Intelligence Corps from 1917 to the present day has been vital. Initially, women were employed exclusively in SIGINT-related duties. As shall become clear, the ‘Hush WAACs’ of the First World 12War, and those members of the Auxiliary Territorial Service attached to Bletchley Park in the 1940s, were prime examples of this sort of work. Their role expanded greatly from the late 1960s, when members of the Women’s Royal Army Corps (WRAC) were admitted for full SIGINT analyst training. Then, in 1975, the trade of Operator Intelligence and Security was also opened to them. And with the dissolution of the WRAC in 1992, women were admitted to the Corps on exactly the same basis as men. From the beginning, whether they were attached to the Corps or were full members of it, women proved their value in all aspects of intelligence collection, both overt and covert. This is reflected in the fact that women have served in all the senior positions of the Corps, from Regimental Sergeant Major to Corps Colonel, and have fought on the front line in both counter-terrorism and counter-insurgency, three of them making the ultimate sacrifice.

         
            • • •

         

         Having demonstrated what the Intelligence Corps does in the twenty-first century, it is vital to examine its origins and development prior to its re-establishment in July 1940 in order to appreciate how it has become so pivotal to the modern British Army.

         In the fourth century bc, the Chinese General Sun Tzu wrote in his fabled text The Art of War: ‘Nothing should be as favourably regarded as intelligence; nothing should be as generously rewarded as intelligence; nothing should be as confidential as the work of intelligence.’ Similarly, both the Greek and Roman Empires are known to have made extensive use of spies and intelligence gathering in their conquests. And in feudal Japan, between the twelfth and sixteenth centuries, covert agents known as ‘shinobi’ were used 13to spy on their enemies. All of these examples help to explain why espionage is sometimes referred to as ‘the second oldest profession’. In acknowledging that intelligence has been seen as the key to military success for thousands of years, however, it will come as a surprise to many to learn just how recently Britain’s military intelligence operation was formalised.

         It is true that the need to know about an opponent’s activities and situation has been a feature of British military history for centuries, but it was probably not until the Wars of the Roses between 1455 and 1485 that intelligence was exploited to its full potential. At that time, networks of agents were run by both the House of York, represented by a white rose, and the House of Lancaster, represented by a red rose. These symbols were covert signs of affiliation and it is no accident that they are depicted on the cap badge of the modern-day Intelligence Corps. Following these civil wars, John Morton, a lawyer and priest, emerged as a member of the King’s Council. King Henry VII then appointed him as head of his own secret service.

         In the sixteenth century, when Henry VIII was on the throne, the post of a chief army ‘reconnoitier’, known as the Scoutmaster-General, was created. The holder had responsibility for intelligence matters. Subsequently, during the reign of Queen Elizabeth I, the Cambridge University-educated lawyer and fervent Protestant Sir Francis Walsingham rose to become her principal secretary and spymaster. Catholic plots to overthrow or even to kill the monarch were thwarted during his tenure. Walsingham also oversaw the development of organised intelligence gathering, both at home and abroad, as well as codebreaking.

         During the Wars of the Spanish Succession, between 1701 and 1714, the Duke of Marlborough is said to have proclaimed: ‘No war 14can be conducted successfully without early and good intelligence.’ The duke’s victories against the French at Blenheim, Ramillies, Oudenarde and Malplaquet, which cemented his place as one of the greatest Generals in European history, were attributed, among other things, to his ‘keen knowledge of the enemy’, again showing the power of military intelligence.

         In the course of the Peninsular War, between 1807 and 1814, the Duke of Wellington enjoyed the advantage of having two separate intelligence organisations. Firstly, tactical intelligence was provided by the ‘Exploring Officers’ of his Corps of Guides, featuring men such as Colquhoun Grant and Edward Charles Cocks. Indeed, Grant was eventually appointed as Head of Intelligence of the Peninsular Army. Second, for strategic intelligence Wellington was reliant upon a network of civilian agents recruited by British diplomats in the Portuguese city of Lisbon and the Spanish city of Cádiz. Wellington’s use of intelligence continued during the Hundred Days, culminating in the Battle of Waterloo. For most of the nineteenth century, however, the British Army collected military intelligence only when it was necessary to do so. No permanent intelligence unit existed.

         The Boer War, fought between 1899 and 1902, inspired the founding of the Field Intelligence Department (FID). Whereas previously no formation below divisional level had had an Intelligence Officer, Colonel Hume, the Director of Military Intelligence (South Africa) from 1900, wrote a paper identifying the requirement for FIDs to have Intelligence Officers at all levels of military commands, pressing for a greater emphasis on counter-intelligence. Hume further called for the coordination of ‘detective work’ with ‘press censorship and the reading of private mail’ and the recruitment of scouts and interpreters. David Henderson, who rose to become Director 15of Military Intelligence during the Boer War, also tried to persuade the British Army of the need for a permanent Intelligence Corps to exist in the early years of the twentieth century. By the end of the Boer War, the intelligence element of the British forces had increased from two officers to 132 officers, plus 2,321 white soldiers and a group of native scouts. Henderson subsequently wrote two books, Field Intelligence: Its Principles and Practice (1904) and The Art of Reconnaissance (1907), both of which underlined his belief that there should be no scaling back.

         Despite Henderson’s warning, the FID was disbanded after the hostilities ended in May 1902 and the Directorate of Military Intelligence Section 5 (MI5) and the Secret Service Bureau (MI6) were created in 1909. Thereafter, an Intelligence Corps unit designed exclusively to deal with field intelligence did not exist until the outbreak of the First World War in August 1914, when it was founded under the stewardship of Major T. G. J. Torrie. As noted by Anthony Clayton in his book Forearmed, initially, the Intelligence Corps comprised about fifty men made up of existing members of the Army, the Metropolitan Police and some civilians including ‘academics, businessman, journalists, writers, artists and others selected for expertise, linguistic (French or German) or other, useful for operations in France’. Nigel West, in his book The A to Z of British Intelligence, highlighted that the Corps comprised a ‘Headquarters Wing, a Dismounted Section, a Mounted Section equipped with horses borrowed from the Grafton Hunt, a Motor-Cycle Section, and a Security Duties Section manned by detectives seconded from Special Branch’. Then, as now, the Corps collected and analysed intelligence through mapping, interrogation, aerial photography, running agents in the German-occupied territories, and wireless and telephone tapping. It also launched counter-intelligence 16initiatives against suspected enemy agents. By the end of the war, the model that had been developed was for regular Staff Officers to be supported by non-regulars with specialist skills.

         One famous officer who served in the Intelligence Corps during the Great War was John Buchan, the author of the spy adventure novel The Thirty-Nine Steps, which was published in 1915. In 1916, Buchan was sent to the Western Front and attached to the British Army’s General Headquarters Intelligence Section. There, he received a field commission as a Second Lieutenant in the Intelligence Corps and his duties included drafting official communiqués for the press. Later in the war, he was appointed Director of Information by Lord Beaverbrook, the Minister of Information.

         Another person from this era who is of special interest, despite his name being less well known than Buchan’s, is Roger West. He was one of the Corps’ initial fifty or so officers in 1914 and has been dubbed ‘the man who saved Paris’ thanks to his stunningly audacious actions shortly after hostilities began. West’s story is the first of the many extraordinary tales charting the men and women of the Intelligence Corps upon which this book will focus.

         Roger Rolleston Fick West was born in London on 12 January 1891, the son of Samuel West, an eminent physician, and Margaret West (née Frankland). Through his mother, he inherited German ancestry and was a fluent speaker of that language and of French. After attending Rugby School between 1904 and 1909, he went up to King’s College, Cambridge, to study mechanical sciences, graduating in 1912. He continued his studies at the Universities of Bonn, Heidelberg and Würzburg before returning to England in 1913 to begin his first engineering job with Tangyes of Birmingham, a firm which made hydraulic cylinders and rams.

         As soon as Britain declared war on Germany on 4 August 1914, 17West, who was unmarried and twenty-three years old, quit his job in order to join up. So desperate was this adventurer to serve his country with the British Expeditionary Force (BEF), despite having very little military training, that over the ensuing five days he travelled 1,000 miles around England by train and on his trusty Triumph motorcycle in search of a post as an Army despatch rider. Having been turned down by several recruiting depots, he was eventually directed to the War Office in London where he pleaded with a Captain E. W. Cox to be given a chance. Once his qualifications and linguistic ability were confirmed, he was appointed on 10 August as a temporary Second Lieutenant in the newly formed Intelligence Corps. Writing in his diary that day, West noted: ‘[Cox] took me on as one of the last of five spare men for the Intelligence Corps for six months or the duration of the war.’ In view of the valour shown by West in France just three weeks later, Cox’s decision to accept him would prove serendipitous.

         After his recruitment, West immediately bought a second-hand uniform for 30 shillings from the military department of Moss Bros in Covent Garden and on 11 August caught a train to Southampton. There, he was issued with a Premier motorcycle and kit including field dressings and field glasses and, like many of his colleagues, detailed as a ‘Scout Officer’. In this role, he would be deployed to the flanks to collect intelligence on the enemy which, using his motorcycle, he would then transport to divisional headquarters. Other new recruits to the Corps alongside West were engaged as interpreters, document examiners and interrogators, or tasked with vetting or ‘contra-espionage’ duties; all were told that they should not consider themselves officers, despite having received commissions.

         On 12 August, West boarded the SS Olympia with the Corps’ other new Second Lieutenants. After disembarking at Le Havre 18on 13 August, he and his colleagues spent six days in a squalid camp at Harfleur attending numerous briefings before eventually advancing by motorcycle along hot, dusty roads to the town of Le Cateau, which was reached on 20 August. The following morning, they were given their assignments. Along with two others – one of whom, Alfred Sang, was a French-speaking travelling salesman – West was seconded as a despatch rider to the 19th Infantry Brigade, an independent brigade and part of II Corps. It had been formed hurriedly on the battlefield and its role was to protect the left flank of the BEF and to respond to any enemy activity. As a result, it was always either on the move or in action. West and his colleagues were to courier messages between the brigade headquarters, its four infantry battalions and other formation headquarters as necessary.

         For the next three days, armed only with what West described as a second-hand revolver ‘of doubtful safety’, he criss-crossed ramshackle countryside roads as the brigade headed north into Belgium, one night sleeping on a bed of straw at a billet so infested with fleas that one of his feet was badly bitten and became inflamed, causing him to hobble. On 23 August, the BEF was dug in at Mons, along the line of the Mons-Condé Canal, facing the numerically superior German First Army. By the end of that day, despite suffering severe losses to the determined British defence, the Germans had managed to outflank the British and were sending troops across the canal, making retreat the only option for the BEF. In an attempt to slow the German advance, the bridges across the canal were blown up by the Royal Engineers and the British battalions made an orderly withdrawal, pursued all the while by the enemy. The retreat from Mons continued, with the BEF pausing at Le Cateau to make a stand but then being forced again to withdraw south. 19

         By 30 August, West and the 19th Brigade headquarters had reached Pontoise on the River Oise, barely 17 miles from Paris. By now, the rearguard of the BEF was formed by the 1st Battalion Middlesex Regiment, with the German advanced units not far behind. When it was discovered before dawn that morning that the rearguard had taken a wrong road, a sleep-deprived West, still limping, was sent out on his motorcycle to catch up with them and set them on the right route. Having found them, and while attempting to show them the correct road, he discovered that he had left his maps at his Pontoise billet, so he decided to retrieve them.

         When he reached Pontoise, he was greeted by silence. The brigade had moved on and its inhabitants were still asleep. He searched his billet but could not find the maps. Then, just before returning to the rearguard position, he noticed that the suspension bridge across the River Oise was still standing. Although charges had been laid to its suspension straps, the resulting explosion had had little effect, while a fire that had been lit to burn the bridge down had gone out without causing any damage. Knowing that it was the only remaining bridge in the area, and that the British withdrawal had left the French Fifth Army exposed, it was clear to West that the advancing German troops could cross it easily and perhaps threaten Paris. He decided that this strategically important structure must be obliterated.

         He shot back to the headquarters’ new location to report the situation. Having done so, he volunteered to return to the bridge with some explosives and complete this demolition job personally. So crazy did the acting Brigade Commander, Colonel Ward, consider this plan that he told West: ‘Don’t be a fool and commit suicide.’ A short argument ensued, after which a persuasive West was given 20permission to try to see out his scheme. Having secured a 14lb tin of gun cotton plus primers, fuses and detonators, West then admitted to another senior officer, a Major Walker, that his knowledge of demolitions was ‘rusty’ and he would benefit from having an expert engineer with him. Lieutenant J. A. C. Pennycuick, an officer of the Royal Engineers, immediately stepped forward and volunteered to accompany West on this urgent mission, hitching a ride on his motorcycle.

         Weaving through troops and past horses, the pair – who were unknown to each other – travelled north as fast as they could into what they knew might already be enemy territory, arriving at Pontoise at about 7 a.m. They were relieved to find no signs of the Germans there, but they knew the clock was ticking. After unloading the demolition kit and turning the motorcycle in the direction of ‘home’ for a quick getaway, they stepped onto the bridge. West climbed one of the suspension towers and fixed the slabs of gun cotton, followed by Pennycuick who attached the fuses and detonators. West lit the fuse and they ran towards a nearby house, whereupon they heard only a ‘feeble bang’, according to West’s diary. This first attempt had failed to ignite the charge and so, after West had once again scaled the same pillar, they were forced to try again with a new detonator and a new fuse. As they were completing this delicate operation, there was a sudden burst of rifle fire from across the river, heralding the advance of the German units. Having done their best, the Britons sprinted into a nearby building for cover, hearing a tremendous explosion as they sheltered. This time, the tower collapsed, and with it fell the suspension straps supporting the roadway, which plummeted 40 feet into the river below. The bridge had been blown. As it turned out, the building in which West and Pennycuick had found sanctuary was an ‘estaminet’ – a 21small café selling alcoholic drinks – so they had a couple of ciders to celebrate their success and then returned to brigade headquarters. Later that day, West noted modestly that he was ‘quite pleased with our morning’s work’.

         It is impossible to know the precise repercussions of Second Lieutenant West’s derring-do. That he was branded ‘the man who saved Paris’ so soon after completing his feat certainly reflects the contemporary feeling that his courage generated, even if this credit may have been amplified somewhat. With that said, his quick thinking, which unarguably did protect scores of soldiers in the French Fifth Army, was certainly deemed by his senior officers to have played a significant part in frustrating the Schlieffen Plan, the blueprint for Germany’s invasion of France and Belgium: on 9 December 1914, West was Mentioned in Despatches and created a Companion of the Distinguished Service Order (DSO). The brief citation which appeared in the London Gazette read: ‘For assisting Lieut J. A. C. Pennycuick in the demolition of the bridge at Pontoise’. It must be said that awarding a DSO to a junior officer was unusual; the order was traditionally reserved for officers of the rank of Major and above. Moreover, West’s was the first decoration earned by the Intelligence Corps during the First World War. This was not the end of the campaign for West, of course. He continued to serve his country as the war raged on.

         In late 1914, during the First Battle of Ypres, his engineering background meant that he was transferred to the 8th Railway Company, overseeing the construction of light railways to enable the rapid transport of casualties, reinforcements and supplies to and from the front line. In early 1915, he was with the 42nd Fortress Company, Royal Engineers, engaged in designing trench fortifications, for which, in June that year, he received his second Mention 22in Despatches. In September 1915, he returned to intelligence duties and was attached to the General Headquarters staff as an Intelligence Officer in the Ypres sector. In December 1915, however, he was admitted to the Queen Alexandra’s Military Hospital at Millbank in London suffering from shell shock. The following year, he was released from front-line duty by the War Office and attached to the Ministry of Munitions in Edinburgh. There, he resumed his work designing trench fortifications before being sent in 1917 to the Aircraft Manufacturing Company at Hendon, where he became chief design assistant to the aviation pioneer Geoffrey de Havilland, working on wind-tunnel design and aerodynamics.

         After the war, West continued working for de Havilland and was accepted as an associate member of the Institute of Civil Engineers. Between 1920 and 1930, he worked in the field of petroleum geology and seismology with the Asiatic Petroleum Company in China and the Anglo-Persian Oil Company. In July 1930, he married Barbara Morley-Horder, a stage actress who had trained with Laurence Olivier and John Gielgud and toured as an understudy to Sybil Thorndike. Initially, the Wests moved to British Columbia, where Roger lectured in seismology at the university while Barbara focused on her acting career. In 1939, they relocated to San Francisco. Roger became an advisor to Paramount Pictures in Hollywood and also used his engineering skills and expertise in seismology to make additional income by designing and building earthquake-resistant houses; Barbara continued to act. In the mid-1950s, they retired to the Californian town of Carmel, where they lived until Roger died on 18 November 1975 at the Monterey Health Centre, aged eighty-four. His widow returned to England, where she died in 1986. Roger West is remembered as a quick-witted and cheerful man, who was always self-effacing about his daring actions in 23Pontoise on that late summer morning of 30 August 1914. He never forgot the war, though he was sufficiently haunted by it to be reluctant to return to England until late on in his life.

         
            • • •

         

         If Second Lieutenant West showed great bravery during the First World War through a single spontaneous act, another Intelligence Corps officer, George Bruce, had a comparatively nuanced, though no less momentous, experience during the same conflict which further substantiates the illustrious history of the unit and the fearlessness of its operators.

         He was born George John Gordon Bruce in Edinburgh on 18 October 1883, the son of the 6th Lord Balfour of Burleigh and Lady Balfour, née Katherine Hamilton-Gordon, daughter of the Earl of Aberdeen. His father was a leading Scottish Unionist politician who served in a number of posts including as Secretary of State for Scotland. The Bruce family lineage can be traced back to Robert the Bruce, the fourteenth-century King of Scotland.

         George was the second youngest of five siblings, having three sisters and one elder brother, Robert, who was the heir to the family title. He was educated at Eton College, but a bout of tuberculosis prevented him from going up to university and instead he was sent to Switzerland to convalesce. On his return, he went into insurance and banking. His brother, Robert, was a career officer in the Argyll and Sutherland Highlanders who had seen active service in the Boer War and in Sudan, but he was killed in action on 26 August 1914 at the Battle of Le Cateau during the retreat from Mons. On 8 September, less than two weeks after his brother’s death, George, then aged thirty, was commissioned as a temporary 24Second Lieutenant on the General List for service with the Intelligence Corps. He landed in France to join the BEF on 27 September, but in May 1915, he received a shrapnel wound to the head at Neuve Chapelle, prompting his evacuation to England for treatment. This injury would, in its way, prove pivotal.

         After his convalescence, the War Office refused to let Bruce return to front-line duty and instead found a post for him behind the lines with the branch of the Intelligence Corps concerned with counter-espionage and security. By May 1916, he was posing as an Assistant Provost Marshal (an assistant head of the Military Police) and was based in the city of Amiens, 75 miles north of Paris, from where he ran a secret service which monitored suspected enemy agents. At that time, Amiens was a large British garrison area with thousands of Allied troops, communications and transport networks, all of which were prime targets for German espionage and sabotage.

         From the outbreak of the Great War, hundreds of thousands of European civilians were uprooted as a result of enemy occupation or state deportation, causing a refugee crisis. Many of the displaced retreated to France. This emergency was exploited by the Germans, who considered the circumstances ideal for infiltrating their secret agents into enemy territory. In order to counter this risk, British intelligence established from late 1915 a series of what were called Inter-Ally Permit Offices. Officially, these bureaux issued documents to people travelling outside France. Unofficially, they provided a brilliant opportunity to insert Allied agents into Belgium, the Netherlands, Switzerland and Germany. They were staffed by trained Intelligence Officers who could potentially identify an enemy agent among the mass of innocent refugees, or ‘talent-spot’ would-be agents among the civilian population who might be 25willing to work for the Allies. Bearing in mind that anybody who was caught spying in France would most likely be shot, Bruce not only had to contend with risking his own life for his country, he had to persuade others to place themselves in mortal danger for the greater good as well.

         One crucial activity undertaken by these Allied secret agents was train watching. By identifying the movement of German troops and supplies, it was possible to estimate with some confidence the position and timing of the next German offensive. According to one account, quoted in Michael Smith’s book New Cloak, Old Dagger, train watchers even included housewives living near railway lines who knitted reports of German movements: a plain stitch for a carriage containing men, purl for those carrying horses. Other agents’ reports, written in Indian ink on tissue paper, would be passed to a local chief agent who would then attempt to send the information back across the front line using other inventive methods. Messages were hidden in vegetables and thrown across fences; or attached to homing pigeons; or fixed to model aeroplanes. Bows and arrows were even used to pass sensitive communications on occasion.

         The Paris Inter-Ally Permit Office was located at 41 Rue Saint-Roch, an anonymous building in an unremarkable street in the 1st arrondissement, close to the Jardin des Tuileries and the Louvre Museum. Initially, it was run by a Lieutenant S. H. C. Woolrych of the Intelligence Corps, but in January 1917, George Bruce was appointed in his place. The system which Bruce inherited was complicated. Following an agent’s initial selection at Rue Saint-Roch, they were sent to an equally non-descript building in the Rue Soufflot on the Left Bank to learn how to identify German uniforms, insignia, weapons and equipment and how to recognise and record the movement of trains carrying German soldiers and provisions. 26Once instructed, they were sent back behind enemy lines in France and Belgium, risking capture and certain death as they travelled on foot, by rail or – with the assistance of the Royal Flying Corps – by parachute. Although many agents did die trying to get information back into Allied hands, those reports that passed across the lines successfully were sent to Bruce at 41 Rue Saint-Roch. From there, they were couriered to a central bureau at Folkestone in Kent. This office, located at 8 The Parade, handled and coordinated all intelligence from the Allied secret service agencies – that is to say British, French, Belgian and Russian.

         By early 1918, Bruce had simplified and accelerated this process by cutting out the Kent office so that he and his colleagues dealt directly with the General Headquarters in France. Bruce also established a new network of agents operating in Luxembourg, which had been occupied by Germany since the start of the war and through which ran much of the German rail network supplying their armies in France and Belgium. Furthermore, he addressed the difficulties of inserting agents behind the lines. By the final months of the war, the Royal Flying Corps’ losses were increasing, and it was made clear that dropping agents by parachute from valuable aircraft had become too expensive. Under Bruce, the idea of using balloons to secrete agents into enemy territory was refined and utilised.

         Two of the agents whom Bruce recruited and who had a significant impact on the war at a critical stage stand out. The first was the 49-year-old Madame Camille Rischard. Having visited Paris early in 1917 to see her student son, Marcel, she was keen to return home to Luxembourg and went to 41 Rue Saint-Roch to get the necessary travel papers. Bruce believed immediately that this unassuming doctor’s wife would make an ideal potential agent. Unfortunately, Madame Rischard saw things differently, having no desire to get 27mixed up in an international spy ring. Indeed, she positively recoiled when it was suggested to her that she might smuggle out of France a message written on thin tissue paper which would be hidden in her ear. Repeated attempts to persuade this respectable lady to do her duty failed, and it was not until she attended confession in a Paris church in April 1917 that she agreed to act, spurred on by a priest. Training her and getting her back into Luxembourg via Switzerland took almost a year, but finally, in February 1918, she reached home and started sending her first messages to Bruce by planting code words in a local newspaper. She continued to do this, with growing confidence, for months.

         Bruce also recruited a Belgian Army officer called Albert-Ernest Baschwitz Meau. He had worked in Africa and South America, and by the time he and Bruce met, he had already been captured by and escaped from the Germans five times. He was considered a natural agent and, incredibly, having offered himself up for duty, he travelled to Luxembourg by hydrogen balloon in order to take up his train-watching duties. Meau’s devil-may-care attitude was perfectly suited to his epic voyage, as he drifted over the lines by night, risking ground fire and anti-aircraft defences. Having evaded the enemy by air, he, like Madame Rischard, was able to pick up intelligence about German troop movements on the ground right up to the end of the war, making a huge contribution to victory. After the war, both Madame Rischard and Meau were made Chevaliers of the Légion d’Honneur. Perhaps the greatest accolade paid to them and, indirectly, to Bruce for having identified them as agents, came more than a decade later, in 1940, however. That year, the Nazis reoccupied Luxembourg and they are said to have gone looking for these two notable graduates of Bruce’s spy school. They failed to find them. 28

         Following the Armistice in November 1918, Bruce was transferred to the GHQ Intelligence Staff, where he took the place of Major Stewart Menzies, who had been transferred to the Secret Service Bureau. In June 1919, Bruce married Dorothy Done, his secretary and assistant at 41 Rue Saint-Roch and someone who had herself been recruited by the British for counter-intelligence work. After the war, Bruce returned to banking, but it seems that he did not sever his links with the intelligence services entirely. There are strong indications that he was involved in the ‘Z-Network’ with Claude Dansey of the Secret Intelligence Service, using his connections with foreign government officials to provide economic, commercial and, sometimes, military intelligence for the British. Evidence also exists suggesting that shortly before the outbreak of the Second World War, in 1938, Bruce was involved with ‘Section D’ of SIS, tapping his old network to carry out undercover missions in Europe. Bruce succeeded his father as the 7th Lord Balfour of Burleigh in July 1921 and died in June 1967, aged eighty-three. He never talked about the war. It was only in 1995, when Bruce’s son Robert and his wife Janet opened a chest of drawers at their house in Clackmannanshire which had been locked for almost thirty years, that the truth of his activities came to light. The chest contained files of War Office documents, notebooks, letters, maps and diagrams which showed the extent of George Bruce’s spy network.

         
            • • •

         

         British women were also involved in intelligence work during the First World War, even if attitudes of the day meant they were seen by some in the military as being useful primarily in replacing men 29who were needed for front-line duty as opposed to being considered valuable in their own right.

         Mabel Peel was one such person whose skills were called upon at the height of the conflict. She was born on 25 July 1879 at Barton upon Irwell in Lancashire, the daughter of Robert Peel, a bank official, and Alice Peel (née Dymond). Although details of her early schooling are sketchy, it is known that she developed an aptitude for languages at an early age. In 1898, not yet twenty, she was granted a permit by the British Consulate in Bordeaux to travel freely in south-west France and she set herself up there as a freelance teacher of French and of the violin. After returning to Britain, she gained a second-class Bachelor of Arts (BA) degree in modern languages (French and German) from the University of Manchester in 1906 and a Master of Arts (MA) the following year. She became an assistant mistress at Howell’s School in Denbigh, North Wales, and later worked as a modern languages teacher at Bridlington High School in Yorkshire.

         By the end of 1916, the British Army was experiencing a severe manpower shortage caused in part by the horrendous losses suffered during the Somme offensive, and replacement troops were needed urgently in the front-line trenches. One obvious solution to filling the shortfall was to deploy the thousands of men who had until that point been providing myriad subsidiary services behind the lines and at home. They could, in turn, be replaced by a trained corps of volunteer uniformed women. The War Office eventually accepted this idea.

         Recruitment began in March 1917, though the Women’s Army Auxiliary Corps (WAAC) was not established formally until July 1917. Dr Mona Chalmers Watson served as its first Chief Controller. 30Initially, WAAC members were restricted to traditionally ‘feminine’ duties such as administration, catering and stores-related work, but the potential for some of them to undertake more specialist responsibilities was soon heralded by a letter written to the War Office by Field Marshal Douglas Haig, the Commander of the BEF. Haig stated the urgent need for female clerks at Boulogne to censor letters written by German prisoners of war.

         Mabel Peel joined the WAAC in June 1917, following in the footsteps of two of her siblings who had already donned uniform. Her younger sister, Alice, had joined the British Red Cross Voluntary Aid Detachment (VAD) in 1914, an organisation that provided nursing support for military casualties in hospitals at home and abroad. And her only surviving brother, Harold, who had read theology at Cambridge and became a cleric in Australia, joined the Australian Imperial Force as a chaplain in 1916 and served throughout the Great War, including with the 1st Australian Division in France.

         Peel’s linguistic abilities meant that she was posted to the War Office Intelligence Branch in London as a German interpreter and censor in the rank of Assistant Administrator. She was the first woman to be admitted to this post. By the time of her arrival, the German Army was making increasing use of wireless to transmit coded battlefield messages. Intercepting these messages was relatively easy, but decoding them was more complicated. Teams of Army officers in the department known as I(e)C at the British Expeditionary Force (BEF) headquarters at Saint-Omer were already busy in this deciphering effort, but they were becoming overwhelmed by the volume of work. Rather than take more officers away from front-line duty, it was decided that German-speaking WAAC members should be sent to France. 31

         In September 1917, Peel and five other WAACs made the journey from Folkestone to Boulogne. Initially, they were kept in the dark about what they would be doing there. They arrived at Saint-Omer on 29 September and reported for duty the following morning, entering an office strewn with papers which they later discovered was part of the GHQ Intelligence Branch. It was then they were informed they were to work as codebreakers.

         In 1924, Peel wrote an account of her time in France. In it, she recalled:

         
            I think none of us will ever forget that first morning at the office, when we sat there, with sheets of paper in front of us on which were arranged in the form of sentences, meaningless groups of letters. We were told that they were codes, wireless messages (coming from the Germans and tapped by our operators). We were to try and solve them. Never having seen a code message in our lives before, you can imagine the despair that filled our hearts … On discussing the work at lunch time, which we had to do in very guarded terms because of the presence of the orderlies, we found a certain amount of consolation in the fact that everyone was as depressed about it all as everyone else and each felt as dull witted and stupid as the others.

         

         She and the other WAACs took some time to adapt to the rigours of their work. They were split up, so that one woman worked alongside a team of men. As Peel also wrote in her memoir:

         
            We began to find our work intensely interesting, and as we began to see more and more daylight in it, found it monopolising all our thoughts both waking and sleeping … I knew that at the 32end of three months, a colleague and myself decoded our daily messages quite by ourselves, handing up our suggestions each evening to be signed by the head of the room.

         

         By early 1918, the WAAC element assisting with the codebreaking effort had been increased from six to twelve, all of whom were affiliated to the Intelligence Corps. Each woman came from an educated middle- or upper-class background and ranged in age from early twenties to mid-fifties. They lived in wooden huts and were largely separated from the other WAACs who were tasked with routine administration and catering duties. Their discomfort was compounded by their having to get used to night-time bombing raids. Having been ordered never to discuss their secret work outside of their office, the codebreakers became known as the ‘Hush WAACs’. Their assignment was demanding and the hours were long, working every day of the week from 9.30 a.m. to midnight. Whereas the men in the office were allowed to take two weeks’ leave every six months, the women were only granted leave every twelve months.

         The WAACs did not work in isolation and there were varying levels of liaison with their American and French counterparts. They also became more actively involved in what they were doing. For example, Mabel Peel is known to have independently contributed to the catalogue of well-known phrases that could be used, through analysing context, to break codes. And her colleague Gwendoline Watkins emphasised the importance of code books of captured German soldiers to assist in the decoding process – a technique of using a ‘crib’, which would be instrumental in the success of the Bletchley Park codebreakers during the Second World War.

         In March 1918, when the German Army commenced its last-ditch effort to defeat the Allied armies in France, known as the 33Spring Offensive, it changed all of its military codes. This meant that Peel and her colleagues had to work even harder to break them, though their task became more manageable when the Americans intercepted a German message that had been sent in both the old and the new codes. This error enabled the message to be unscrambled using the old code while providing an opportunity to crack the new one.

         As the German advance continued, the British and French armies pulled back. By April 1918, Saint-Omer was no longer considered safe and the I(e)C office was moved to Le Touquet, less than 2 miles from the major British base area at Étaples. Although the intensity of the work didn’t change, the WAACs’ accommodation did improve, with the women moving into a house. It was also in 1918 that Queen Mary, being so impressed by their work, became their patron and their group’s name changed to Queen Mary’s Army Auxiliary Corps.

         When the war ended abruptly in November 1918, the I(e)C was dissolved and the WAACs returned to civilian life. On 11 December 1918, exactly a month to the day after the Armistice came into effect, Mabel Peel was recalled home, her service abroad qualifying her for the British War Medal and Victory Medal. She was demobilised on 11 January 1919 and then returned to teaching. In 1925, she moved to Rouen in Normandy and lived at the Rue Malpalu, only yards from Notre-Dame Cathedral. She soon became aware of the large number of veterans who had gravitated there after the war, many of whom were injured or shell-shocked and in need of help. She felt moved to join the British Legion, the organisation set up in 1921 as a single unified charity to help ex-servicemen, and later formed a British Legion branch in Rouen. It grew to a membership of more than ninety and she remained deeply involved in its running until she returned to England in 1936. 34

         The cryptographic work undertaken by Mabel Peel was not as challenging or as strategically significant as that done by later British female codebreakers, but she was part of the first contingent to perform these duties in uniform and behind a battle front, and her input is considered to have been notable. Later, she settled in Welwyn Garden City in Hertfordshire and resumed teaching until her death on 25 January 1938, aged fifty-eight.

         
            • • •

         

         As can be extrapolated from the small selection of accounts above, members of the Intelligence Corps made many and varied contributions during the First World War. Once the bloodshed ended in November 1918, however, the Army decided that it should be broken up. By then, the Corps consisted of 3,000 men and had units in every area of conflict outside of France: Egypt, East and West Africa, Italy, Greece, Turkey and Russia. Some Corps members were retained to take part in covert operations against the Republicans during the Irish War of Independence between 1919 and 1921. Notoriously, on the morning of 21 November 1920, twelve Britons – including those operatives working for British intelligence known as the Cairo Gang – were assassinated in early morning raids on their lodgings in Dublin. This strike marked the first killings of Bloody Sunday and was engineered by the political revolutionary Michael Collins.

         Such an intelligence failure did nothing to encourage senior military figures to maintain a permanent intelligence unit within the British Army although, following the Armistice, the Counter Espionage Section was retained in Germany until December 1929. 35When the last two officers left the country that month, the Intelligence Corps was formally disbanded and ceased to exist. It would take another global conflict before a military intelligence organisation became an integral part of Britain’s armed forces once again.
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            PART TWO

            THE SECOND WORLD WAR

         

         
            The Second World War was the deadliest conflict in human history. It is estimated that between 62 million and 72 million fatalities occurred after every major global power was drawn into it. Of these, approximately 25 million were military casualties. The war began on two different fronts which merged in 1941. The first was the Sino-Japanese War, starting in July 1937; the second was the war in Europe triggered by Adolf Hitler’s invasion of Poland in September 1939 which resulted in Britain and France declaring war on Germany. In 1945, the Allied powers led by the British Empire, America and the Soviet Union defeated the Axis powers of Germany and Japan.

         

         In September 1939, no full-time designated British military intelligence organisation had existed for a decade. When war broke out, it was thanks only to the work of Major (later Field Marshal) Sir Gerald Templer, aided by Captain F. C. Davies, that thirty-one field security sections were formed under the Corps of Military Police. The job of these sections was to accompany the British Expeditionary Force (BEF) – the name of the British Army operating 38in France and the Low Countries from September 1939 to May 1940 – in an intelligence role.

         Intelligence Staff Officers were attached to the nerve centres of all the major formations: the BEF’s General Headquarters; the Army, Navy and Air Force; and to each divisional headquarters. The basic Intelligence Corps field unit was the field security section (FSS). Normally, these units consisted of a Field Security Officer, a Warrant Officer, two Sergeants and a varying number of junior NCOs and Privates. Sections were attached to infantry and armoured divisions, ports, ‘line of communication’ areas, or raised for a particular task such as providing security to restricted areas. They were often among the first to land during amphibious operations and usually the last to leave. Their role was to collect battlefield intelligence, to conduct tactical questioning of enemy prisoners, to seek out and arrest enemy collaborators in liberated areas, and to advise on security for the formation to which they were attached. Intelligence Corps officers and soldiers involved in port security duties also worked closely with the Security Service, MI5 and, in effect, took their directions from that organisation. During the Second World War, MI5’s primary concern was the detection and arrest of German agents in Britain and the monitoring of any individual suspected of being an enemy sympathiser.

         Having been established hurriedly, field security sections inevitably faced difficulties, including over the recruitment and retention of people of sufficient calibre for intelligence work. Adding to these obstacles was resistance among some Field Commanders within the British Army. Some would not take these extempore units and their results seriously, almost certainly because they were populated by what might be termed ‘gifted amateurs’ rather than professional soldiers. The upshot was that history repeated itself. 39As had been the case a quarter of a century before, in 1914, Britain began fighting the Germans on the back foot.

         The writer Malcolm Muggeridge is one noteworthy individual who joined the British military intelligence endeavour during the first months of the Second World War. His recollections of that time reflect perfectly the lukewarm reception from some officers that could be expected by the motley crew of intelligencers who volunteered alongside him. After arriving at the Royal Military Police training centre at Mytchett in Surrey in 1940, Muggeridge remembered, as quoted in Jock Haswell’s British Military Intelligence: ‘The Red Caps looked with ill-concealed distaste and disdain at we Field Security men, mostly schoolmasters, journalists, encyclopaedia salesmen, unfrocked clergymen and other displaced New Statesman readers.’ Muggeridge’s words should perhaps be taken with a pinch of salt, but those with an innate respect for and understanding of military intelligence clearly felt the same way. They believed that this palpable sense of haughtiness must not be allowed to stand; a change in attitude was rapidly required.

         Major W. F. Jeffries, who was in charge of military intelligence personnel at the War Office, certainly held this view. He lobbied intensively for the Intelligence Corps to be revived as a full unit. In July 1940, just weeks after the humiliating Dunkirk evacuation in which almost 340,000 troops had to be rescued, Jeffries’s exertions paid off. It was decided that the field security wing of the Royal Military Police should be turned into an independent formation. All the duties of the original Intelligence Corps were restored, along with signals traffic analysis and an airborne section. The Corps was created on 15 July 1940 with the permission of King George VI and was formally established four days later under the authorisation of Army Order 112. Over the next five years, it would 40grow to comprise 3,040 officers, 5,930 soldiers and 1,553 attached officers. As highlighted in a Ministry of Defence pamphlet, Intelligence Corps members would be associated with many of the key aspects of Britain’s military undertaking which led to victory in 1945: by working within the Special Operations Executive; by helping to break the Enigma code at Bletchley Park; and by setting up other irregular groups including the Long Range Desert Group.

         Selection procedures for the new Intelligence Corps were similar to those used in 1914, but in 1940, the additional idea of advertising for recruits in the national press and via the BBC took hold. Notices would be left in the personal columns of newspapers such as the Daily Telegraph, specifically seeking those in possession of the twin qualities of wanting to serve their country and the ability to speak at least one foreign language. Some who applied were invited to an anonymous-sounding address in Northumberland Avenue, near Trafalgar Square in central London, where they had to take French dictation and discuss their political sympathies before they were considered for training. Alongside regular and reserve officers and soldiers, some of whom had served with the Intelligence Corps during the First World War, about 500 recruits were secured through this innovation.

         A crucial challenge facing the burgeoning new Intelligence Corps concerned its location for training purposes. As it transpired, it and its predecessor, the Field Security Police, would be linked with several areas around the country during the war. As well as the depot at Mytchett in Surrey, at which Malcolm Muggeridge felt he was given such a half-hearted welcome, a field security and training depot was established at Sheerness, in Kent, in 1940. That year, two Oxford University colleges, Pembroke and Oriel, also became officer training centres, with other ranks being 41trained at King Alfred’s College in Winchester (now the University of Winchester). From 1942, Wentworth Woodhouse, near Rotherham in South Yorkshire, was requisitioned by the Army and became the Corps’ headquarters. It would remain so until 1946. This vast house, situated on an 80,000-acre estate, was owned by the Earls of Fitzwilliam, one of the wealthiest families in Britain through its extensive coal mining interests. At the time, Wentworth Woodhouse was considered the largest private residence in the United Kingdom, having a 606-foot-long façade and consisting of more than 300 rooms. To put this in context, Buckingham Palace’s façade is 354 feet. Needless to say, it added some glamour to the Corps to be based at such an impressive seat, even if its personnel were housed in the stable block.

         Reflecting the growth of the Corps, additional training facilities for officers and soldiers were established during the war at Minley Manor near Camberley in Surrey; at Swanage in Dorset; at Smedley’s Hydro at Matlock in Derbyshire; and in Cambridge. Training consisted of a short basic military instruction course and a two-week Field Security Course covering interrogation, morale and propaganda, together with tuition in motorcycle proficiency because it was envisaged that field security personnel should be highly mobile.

         As shall become clear, Intelligence Corps personnel were associated with several different groups throughout the Second World War. These included the Political Warfare Executive (PWE), which was responsible for propaganda and came into being in August 1941. The PWE’s overall direction came from the Foreign Office. Many influential journalists and broadcasters were recruited to it, along with psychologists and other experts in human behaviour. Innumerable ploys were designed to influence the minds of the target 42civil and military population using politics, deception, sex, humour and character assassination. Several officers of the Intelligence Corps served with the PWE, two of whom died on active service.

         Having established when, where and how the Intelligence Corps was brought back following its decade-long slumber, attention can now turn to the various theatres in which its operators served and the astonishing stories of individual Corps operators, beginning with Hitler’s swift advance through Europe in 1939 and 1940.

         FRANCE, NORTH-WEST AND CENTRAL EUROPE

         
            On 1 September 1939, German forces crossed the East Prussian border into Poland. By 11.15 a.m. on 3 September, Germany had failed to respond to the Anglo-French ultimatum to withdraw, resulting in the Prime Minister, Neville Chamberlain, broadcasting to the nation that Britain was at war with Germany. Over the following weeks, the ill-equipped British Expeditionary Force (BEF) mobilised and shipped over to France, where, still hidebound by the trench warfare traditions of the First World War, it dug in and waited. There followed eight months of limited military operations on the Western Front known as the ‘Phoney War’, during which French troops invaded Saarland, a state in western Germany. This period of relative inactivity ended abruptly on 9 April 1940, when Hitler invaded Denmark and Norway. The following month, Luxembourg, Belgium and the Netherlands surrendered. And in June 1940, France fell.

         

         It was during the frenetic springtime of 1940 that one remarkable Intelligence Corps operator, Antony Coulthard, was captured. Despite becoming a prisoner of the Nazis, his heroic story is so affecting that no account of the Corps would be complete without it. 43

         John Antony Ronald Coulthard (always known as Antony) was born on 9 April 1918 at Windsor, Berkshire, the son of retired Captain John Coulthard and his wife, Dorothy. His father was a teacher whose career was interrupted by the First World War, during which he served initially with the London Regiment, seeing active service at Gallipoli and on the Western Front before rising to become Company Sergeant Major and eventually being commissioned into the Royal Flying Corps as an administrative officer.

         Antony attended Exeter School and King Edward VI School in Southampton, his father having been appointed a schools inspector in the city. His linguistic talents then won him a double scholarship to Queen’s College, Oxford in 1936 to read modern languages. While there, he joined the Addison debating society and the Student Christian Movement. In 1938, he was awarded a Heath Harrison Travelling Scholarship in both French and German, which provided funds for academic travel to those countries during vacations. In the summer of 1939, he graduated with a first-class honours degree and, representing his deep love of Germany, special mention was made of his ability in colloquial German. He also became a Laming Fellow, a bursary designed for language students wishing to enter the diplomatic service. The declaration of war put paid to the glittering career that might have been his.

         On 22 September 1939, Coulthard enlisted in the Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Light Infantry. Having inherited left-wing inclinations from his parents, he refused a commission, opting to serve among the rank and file. Six months later, he was transferred to the Corps of Military Police (Field Security Wing), and, on 4 April 1940, after just three weeks of training, he was promoted to Lance Corporal and was soon sent to France to join 11 Field Security Police Section. It had been attached to the British Expeditionary 44Force at Brest since October 1939 on line of communication duties. In mid-May 1940, he was posted to 32 Field Security Police Section at Rennes, which was attached to the 45th Division of the BEF.

         A few days after arriving, Lance Corporal Coulthard was sent out on a motorcycle reconnaissance mission across northern France to find a divisional headquarters whose whereabouts had become unclear. On 20 May, as he and another Intelligence Corps operator neared Amiens, he was exposed to the horrors of war for the first time. After two days of sustained Nazi bombing, the city and its surroundings had been torn apart. Infrastructure lay in ruins, corpses and injured horses littered the streets and the area was rampant with refugees fleeing the Germans. Having scrounged some petrol from a French lorry driver at Montdidier, the young Briton, only twenty-two years old, pressed on into Amiens itself. Believing that enemy troops were nowhere near the badly damaged centre, he decided to have a look at the extent of the chaos but drove immediately into the path of a group of German troops. Being unarmed, and not having enough experience of motorcycle riding to stage a fast getaway, he surrendered without a fight and spent the night in a large temporary prison just outside the city with about 200 other British soldiers.

         A gruelling nine days followed, during which Coulthard and his captured countrymen made their way across Belgium on foot. Anybody who disobeyed orders was beaten, whipped or shot by their captors. Then, most humiliatingly, the nightmare journey continued east by rail as the men were crammed onto overcrowded cattle trucks and transported through Germany and into Nazi-occupied Poland. With no proper food or water on offer, and almost no ventilation, conditions on these trains were inhumane to say the least. 45Boiling hot during the day and freezing cold at night, there were no facilities of any kind, meaning the men had to urinate and defecate in their helmets or boots. Some died en route.

         At the end of May, they reached their final destination, Stalag XXA, a prisoner-of-war camp near the medieval city of Toruń on the Vistula River about 100 miles north of Warsaw. At its peak, it held about 10,000 men. Coulthard would be forced to live there as Prisoner No. 5202. On 19 July 1940, two months after his capture, he was transferred to the newly formed Intelligence Corps, as were all other members of the Field Security Police sections. At that time, it was not uncommon for the War Office to administratively reassign soldiers from one regiment to another, even if they were incarcerated. Coulthard’s impeccable German made him the obvious candidate for the post of camp interpreter, earning him the nickname ‘The Professor’.

         Coulthard was much more than just an earnest academic with a facility in languages, however. His nerve was sufficiently strong for him to make a well-planned, rousing bid for freedom on 23 August 1942. In this, he was accompanied by Sergeant Frederick Foster of the 8th Battalion the Sherwood Foresters Regiment, who had been captured in Norway in April 1940. Foster, a bricklayer’s son turned solicitor’s clerk who had left school aged fourteen, was a few years older than Coulthard, but the pair had struck up a steady friendship. Foster’s riveting account of their daring 900-mile endeavour for neutral Switzerland, recorded by him in an official report after the war for MI9, the branch of the Military Intelligence Directorate dealing with escape and evasion, detailed the meticulous preparation that preceded it and charted the journey itself.

         First, for a year before they broke out of Stalag XXA, Coulthard 46taught Foster to speak German. After receiving this tuition, he had a decent grasp of vocabulary and idiom, but his Nottinghamshire accent was so strong, and German therefore so obviously not his native tongue, it was decided that he should pose as a Hungarian advertising executive named Dr Benecz. Coulthard played the part of a German advertising man, Dr Neumann. They concealed their skeletal bodies underneath suits obtained from Polish connections in Toruń in exchange for Red Cross food and clothing. Trilby hats and civilian shoes were another key part of their disguise as two young businessmen. They carried forged identity cards copied from an authentic example which had been stolen from a German workman and also had ‘letters of authority’ made up with the aid of a child’s printing set. These letters claimed they worked for the engineering and electronics firm Siemens. A fellow prisoner, Sergeant Wilfred Gordon, the camp medicinal dispenser, arranged their supply of traveller’s ration tickets. Before making their break, they posed for final photographs to send home. Foster’s would be sent to his wife, Peggy; Coulthard’s to his parents in Hampshire. Finally, they agreed a cardinal rule: if either of them encountered trouble during the journey, the other must go on alone.

         They fled at 2 p.m. after cutting through one of the camp’s wire fences and walked to Toruń railway station, from where they caught a train to Frankfurt an der Oder, speaking German to each other at all times in case they should be overheard communicating in English. Showing how tight security was, they were soon asked to show their identity cards to a railway policeman. The forgeries worked. On arrival at Frankfurt an der Oder, they spent the night in a waiting room, and then at dawn caught a train, along with scores of Nazi troops, another 50 miles to Berlin. As they scrutinised a timetable there, an old woman approached them asking 47if they were together. Foster confirmed they were and thought no more of it. Then, as they left the station a few minutes later, a plain-clothes member of the Nazi Kriminalpolizei stopped them and said that a ‘lady detective’ had reported them as having been acting suspiciously. Again, their identity cards were put to the test, and they passed muster.

         While waiting for their next train, they took a tour around the capital. Driven by the instinct to carry on serving their country, despite the potentially fatal position in which they had put themselves, they used their time to visit key sites including the Chancellery and Reichstag. Their aim was to log all anti-aircraft positions and the whereabouts of netting and other camouflage in the city streets. After this scoping exercise, they lunched in a hotel full of German officers before finding a quiet park bench from which they made shorthand notes on scraps of paper of every piece of intelligence they could remember from their earlier reconnaissance that might be of use to the British Army. In the late afternoon, they caught a train to Magdeburg and then went on to Leipzig, again looking around the city carefully for any useful information which they could pass on before travelling to Munich. ‘My method in [the] train was to bury my head in the Illustrated I carried, and part of the time pretend to be dozing,’ Foster’s report to MI9 recalled. Then, showing what risks Coulthard was prepared to take in order to protect their true identities, Foster added: ‘Coulthard was able to speak to fellow passengers and even take part in arguments.’ Arriving at Munich, they had a quiet drink at the Bürgerbräukeller, from which Hitler launched the 1923 Beer Hall Putsch, and then ate lunch in the Atlas Hotel. By this point, they knew that they were just twenty-four hours from being able to return to Britain.

         On the final leg of their nerve-racking journey, they caught a 48train to the border town of Lindau, a few miles inside Germany on the shores of Lake Constance. There, they had to endure a two-hour wait before the train would take them to the safety of Switzerland, and they were told they could either have their papers checked inside the train or leave their carriage and undergo a security check outside. They opted to stretch their legs and enjoy the beauty of their surroundings.

         Having disembarked, Coulthard led the way. His papers were examined, he was cleared for the onward journey, and he was a free man. He walked off. Foster approached the barrier next. For some reason which was never established, the border guard hesitated over his papers and began questioning him. At this point, Coulthard broke the rule agreed between them and walked back to find out what was going on. ‘May I ask if something is wrong?’ he asked the guard in his faultless German. The guard’s suspicion was heightened. Having established the men were travelling together, he asked to see Coulthard’s papers again. Not accepting that the men were who they claimed to be, he quietly drew his pistol and told them to accompany him to the local police station. Heartbreakingly, just a couple of miles from repatriation, the game was up. When asked by Foster why he turned back, Coulthard apparently replied: ‘I just thought I should, that’s all.’

         They had to endure two days of interrogation by the Gestapo before their true identities were ascertained. Luckily, they had managed to dispose of the pieces of paper on which they had written their intelligence notes before this cross-examination began. Then, they were returned at gunpoint to Stalag XXA and were soon separated, Foster being sent to Stalag 383 in Bavaria. They never saw each other again. Coulthard made a further eight unsuccessful escape attempts, the second of which, in January 1944, was as 49much a near miss as the first. Dissidents arranged for him to board a Swedish ship in Gdynia harbour on the Baltic coast. Having reached the harbour, he found that the ship had not arrived. He went into hiding for a week before desperation forced him to try to board the first Swedish ship that docked. His luck ran out again, however, when his cover was blown by an Italian dockworker and he was again sent back to Stalag XXA. A third attempt was planned with a Polish officer, but this fell through when Coulthard was unexpectedly removed to a working party two weeks beforehand. The Polish officer did manage to escape and eventually reached England.

         By January 1945, the Russians were advancing into Poland, prompting the Germans to move their prisoners of war back into Germany. As they had no transport resources to waste, the men were put on forced marches in freezing conditions. Little food was supplied, and they survived by foraging in fields. Those who were sick at the start of the march, or who became sick en route, were of no concern to the Nazis. Many died where they fell, beaten by exhaustion, pneumonia, exposure or starvation.

         On 20 January 1945, with the Russian Army closing in, it was the turn of Coulthard and the inmates of Stalag XXA to begin their forced march, an 800-mile trek to the Hanover region. By early March, they had reached the German town of Schwerin, in Mecklenburg-Vorpommern. Coulthard was in a poor state, suffering from dysentery and foot problems, yet he was observed at least twice giving away his bread ration to other men whom he thought were worse off than him. He had continued to act as an interpreter for the prisoners, several of whom testified after the war that he tried pleading with the guards for better conditions. Although men with dysentery were treated at a hospital in Schwerin, only 50the sickest were left behind. Those considered fit enough, including Coulthard, were placed into wagons. Eventually, they crossed the River Elbe and approached the town of Dömitz. On 23 March, the sick column had reached the small hamlet of Kaltenhof, near Dömitz, where it was halted for the night near a barn close to the river bank. The prisoners were to sleep in the barn. By this point, Coulthard’s condition had worsened. He was barely able to walk. On the instructions of the escort Commander, Hauptmann Mackensen, a German medical orderly ordered the prisoners to wash in the icy cold River Elbe. The shock of doing this was too much for Coulthard. He collapsed and was carried into the barn where he died during the night. The following morning, four friends buried him in a small civilian cemetery in a nearby village, the name of which was never properly recorded. After the war, as he had no known grave, his name was inscribed on the Dunkirk Memorial to the Missing. On 23 November 1945, an announcement honouring him appeared in the London Gazette. It read: ‘The King has been graciously pleased to approve the posthumous award of a Mention-In-Despatches in recognition of gallant and distinguished service in the field to Lance Corporal J. A. R. Coulthard, Intelligence Corps.’

         In late 1945, the cruel and sadistic Hauptmann Mackensen was put on trial for his part in the deaths of the thirty prisoners who succumbed during the march, one of whom was Coulthard. He was convicted and executed by hanging on 8 March 1946.

         Coulthard’s friend and fellow escapee, Frederick Foster, survived the war and returned home to the wife he had married only months before his capture in 1940. They went on to have two children. In May 1945, Coulthard’s mother, Dorothy, wrote to Foster telling him the devastating news of her son’s death. Foster passed away in 1990, 51having had a successful career in his family building company. He became Mayor of Grantham in 1957, was made an alderman after leaving the council and was friendly with the future Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher and her father, Alf Roberts.

         Coulthard’s story did not die with Foster, however. In July 1947, a British Graves Concentration Team had been informed that two unknown, non-combat British soldiers were buried in a small cemetery in the village of Quickborn, near Kaltenhof. Once it had been confirmed that the remains were of British men, both were moved to the Becklingen War Cemetery near Soltau. Although one was identified as an unknown British soldier of the Duke of Wellington’s Regiment, the other was entirely unknown, and their new Commonwealth War Graves Commission headstones reflected this status. In 2010, Frederick Foster’s son, Steve, discovered among his father’s personal papers detailed records of his time as a prisoner of war, his escape attempts and of Antony Coulthard. This inspired a five-year search to find Coulthard’s grave, during which he linked up with Coulthard’s niece, Barbara, to solve the mystery.
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